North Yorkshire County Council Scrutiny of Health Committee

Minutes of the meeting held at Falsgrave Community Resource Centre, Scarborough on Friday 13 March 2020 at 10am.

Present:-

Members:-

County Councillors: John Ennis (in the Chair), Jim Clark, Zoe Metcalfe, Heather Moorhouse, Chris Pearson, Roberta Swiers and Robert Windass.

Co-opted Members:-

District and Borough Councillors): Tom Watson (Harrogate) substitute for Nigel Middlemass and Sue Tucker (Scarborough).

In attendance:-

Simon Cox, Director of Acute Commissioning, North Yorkshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)

Vicky Scarborough, Deputy Director Business Development, Humber Teaching NHS Foundation Trust

Neil Wilson, Head of Partnerships and Alliances, York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Executive Members: County Councillor Caroline Dickinson.

County Councillors: Caroline Goodrick and Janet Jefferson.

County Council Officers: Daniel Harry (Scrutiny).

Press and public: Local democracy reporter, and one member of the public.

Apologies for absence were received from:

County Councillors Val Arnold (substitute Andy Paraskos), Philip Barrett, Liz Colling, Mel Hobson and John Mann.

District and Borough Councillors John Clark (Ryedale), Kevin Hardisty (Hambleton), David Ireton (Craven), Nigel Middlemass (substitute Tom Watson) (Harrogate), Pat Middlemiss (Richmondshire) and Jennifer Shaw Wright (Selby).

Copies of all documents considered are in the Minute Book

118. Minutes

Resolved

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 December 2019 be taken as read and be confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

119. Any Declarations of Interest

There were none.

120. Chairman's Announcements

The Chairman, County Councillor John Ennis welcomed everyone to the meeting. He explained that the meeting was being held in Scarborough and not County Hall due to the large number of items on the agenda that were pertinent to the Scarborough area.

County Councillor John Ennis made the following announcements.

The Chairman recently met with the following to discuss commissioning and provider priorities and pressures: Steve Russell, Chief Executive Officer of the Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust; Jo Poole, Manager of the Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate; and Amanda Bloor, Accountable Officer, North Yorkshire CCGs.

Moorfields Eye Hospital

The proposal to move Moorfields Eye Hospital, University College London's Institute of Opthalmology and Moorfield's Charity to a new site at St. Pancras in London has been approved. The move should have a very limited impact upon residents of North Yorkshire as the main specialist eye hospital in our region is at Sheffield.

Nidderdale Group Practice, Grange Medical Centre, Dacre Banks

The Nidderdale Group Practice have formally requested of the Clinical Commissioning Group that they move services from the Grange Medical Centre at Dacre Banks to the other two sites that they run. There is also a possibility that the Hampsthwaite surgery is being considered for closure. A preliminary discussion with Scrutiny of Health will be held at the Mid Cycle Briefing on 24 July 2020, with a more formal, public discussion at committee in September or December 2020.

Additional committee meeting

The Mid Cycle Briefing that was scheduled for 10am on 24 April 2020 will now be a formal meeting of the committee. This has been done to enable two key pieces of health scrutiny to be undertaken: the proposed changes to the Healthy Child Programme; and the proposed changes to urgent and emergency care at the Friarage Hospital, Northallerton.

Coronavirus

The proposal is that Scrutiny Board co-ordinates the scrutiny of the Council's approach to tackling the Coronavirus pandemic after the event. This is likely to be of interest to all committees and so will need some thought. It is not appropriate for the committee to attempt scrutiny of the operational response to the pandemic as it unfolds.

County Councillor John Ennis invited Simon Cox to comment upon the work that was being done to tackle the Coronavirus pandemic. A summary of his comments is as below:

- The focus is upon the delay phase
- Anyone with influenza like symptoms should self-isolate for 7 days
- NHS is mobilising to tackle the pandemic and so non-urgent procedures will be delayed. All hospitals are currently reviewing elective surgery
- There is advice available on the NHS website and also through the national 111 line
- Older people and people with long term health conditions, particularly respiratory, are most at risk
- There is a need to ensure that the response to the pandemic is proportionate and does not cause more health problems than it prevents.

Resolved -

1) Simon Cox to arrange for a regular update to be provided to the Chairman of the committee regarding the response of the NHS to the Coronavirus pandemic.

121. Public Questions or Statements

There were none.

122. Sustainable future for the Friarage Hospital, Northallerton

Considered -

A verbal update by Simon Cox, Director of Acute Commissioning, North Yorkshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).

Simon Cox updated the committee on the progress being made with analysis of consultation responses and the next steps in decision making on the model of urgent and emergency care to be adopted. The key points from the presentation are as summarised below:

- The public consultation closed in late January 2020
- Over 2,000 people engaged in the consultation via a variety of different means
- The analysis of the consultation results will inform the Final Business Case that goes to the CCG Governing Body on 30 April 2020
- There are two options: a 24 hour 7 day a week Urgent Treatment Centre for adults and children with minor injuries and minor illnesses or a 16 hour 7 day a week Urgent Treatment Centre for adults and children with minor injuries and minor illnesses.

Simon Cox proposed sending a briefing to the members of the committee once the papers for the meeting of the Governing Body were published in April. Also, to come back to the June meeting of the committee.

County Councillor John Ennis asked whether the Clinical Senate for Yorkshire and Humber had been consulted and given their opinion on the proposed changes. In particular, whether there had been much comment on the lack of a 'status quo' option.

In response, Simon Cox said that the Clinical Senate had been supportive of the proposed changes and recognised the work that had been done over a two-year period to find a sustainable solution to the problems that were faced. The status quo position was not seen by the Clinical Senate as being tenable. The problems with recruitment to key posts at the Friarage had got worse over the past two years, exacerbating the difficulties that were faced.

Resolved -

- Simon Cox to provide a briefing note to update members on the consultation analysis and decision making process in April, ahead of the CCG Governing Body meeting
- 2) Simon Cox to attend the meeting of the committee on 19 June 2020 to outline the recommendations of the CCG Governing Body for urgent and emergency care at the Friarage.

123. Specialist Services at Scarborough General Hospital (Acute Services Review)

Considered -

A presentation by Simon Cox, Director of Acute Commissioning, North Yorkshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Neil Wilson, Head of Partnerships and Alliances, York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

Simon Cox introduced the presentation and said that it provided an update to that which was given to the December 2019 meeting of the committee. The key points from the presentation are summarised below:

- The review commenced in the summer of 2018 and the focus is upon the development of safe and sustainable services
- There are long standing workforce issues that the review is seeking to address
- The key areas of work are Emergency and Acute Medicine, Urology and Paediatrics/Obstetrics
- The York/Scarborough General Surgical rota was established in October 2019
- Temporary changes to Urology were introduced in November 2019, to establish a safe medical staffing model
- Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Senate has been involved and a report is expected in April 2020
- Temporary changes to oncology services were implemented in 2019 and early 2020. These are being reviewed as part of the overall programme of work
- Public engagement is underway and involves Healthwatch North Yorkshire. A part time Engagement Manager will be appointed to lead on public engagement
- Transport and access issues are recognised and a specific work-stream will be included on this
- Local efforts, through the East Coast medical recruitment project, have led to a reduction in vacancies
- Also looking at models for the delivery of integrated out of hospital care and frailty pathways
- The quality of buildings and the estate is a key issue and £40 million of capital spending has been secured to develop the site so that it can accommodate new ways of working and be fit for the future.

In concluding, Simon Cox said that this was a real opportunity to make positive, lasting change by having a joint approach to planning for the future across a broad range of services on the east coast.

Borough Councillor Sue Tucker asked whether Urology services would come back to Scarborough Hospital in the longer term.

Simon Cox said that work was underway to audit all of the urology cases to better understand the level of risk involved and the model of intervention required. He said that he would bring an update to the September 2020 meeting of the committee.

Neil Wilson emphasised the key role that the Scarborough and Ryedale multi-agency partnership board had to play in looking at the health and social care system as a whole across the east coast, including Bridlington.

County Councillor John Ennis asked whether staff affected by the changes had been successfully re-deployed to other roles, helping to reduce the workforce pressures.

In response, Neil Wilson said that staff had been redeployed and that a recruitment campaign was underway to address workforce shortages.

County Councillor Jim Clark noted that bursaries for nurse training had been reintroduced, which was welcome.

Neil Wilson said that there-introduction of the bursary was very welcome but it would take time for it to have a positive impact upon the numbers of frontline nursing staff.

County Councillor Caroline Goodrick noted that the North Yorkshire population had to access most if not all specialist medical centres by going out of county to centres like Leeds, Hull, Middlesbrough and Newcastle.

In response, Simon Cox said that the lack of large population centres in the county meant that it was not viable to provide specialists services close to the dispersed population and so travelling significant distances was necessary. He said that a transport group has been established as part of the review to see how people could be supported to access services.

County Councillor Zoe Metcalfe asked what the frailty pathway was.

Vicky Scarborough replied that it provides wrap around support to older and frail people as they move between community and hospital settings.

County Councillor John Ennis asked which of the proposed changes would be considered for public consultation and what criteria would be used to determine this.

In response, Simon Cox said that each proposed change would be assessed as to whether a public consultation was required.

County Councillor John Ennis summed up noting that there was a need to understand the totality of all of the proposed services changes and whether, as a package, they merited a public consultation.

Resolved -

- 1) Simon Cox and Neil Wilson to provide an overall update to the committee meeting on 11 September 2020, with a more detailed update in Urology and stroke services and the work of the North Yorkshire CCGs Transport Group
- 2) Neil Wilson to forward to Daniel Harry the Stage 2 Report from the East Coast Review.

124. Scarborough and Ryedale Community Services

Considered -

A presentation by Vicky Scarborough, Deputy Director Business Development, Humber Teaching NHS Foundation Trust.

Vicky Scarborough introduced the presentation, the key points of which are summarised below:

- The existing contract is in place for 5 years
- The services provided are based around the 3 Primary Care Networks: Ryedale;
 Scarborough Outer; and Scarborough Core

- There is a strong focus upon eliminating the number of patient hand-offs between services
- There is a single point of access for patients, carers, families and professionals that is open 24 hours a day, 7 days a week
- A single electronic patient record is used
- Waiting times for specialist services are reducing
- There are 12 GP practices in the area and 121,000 people are covered by the service
- The service is currently supporting 7,229 patients and the average number of new referrals per month is 2,628
- Priority areas are: frailty; carers; mental health; dementia; cardiovascular disease; paediatric care and families
- There are challenges around: workforce recruitment and retention; accommodation; travel times; and the development of integrated working
- The providers are playing a key role in the east coast services review.

County Councillor John Ennis asked to what extent local GPs had engaged in the new community services and embraced integrated health and social care across the acute, primary and community settings.

In response, Vicky Scarborough said that it had been a slow start but that situation had improved with the introduction of the Primary Care Networks.

County Councillor John Ennis asked whether the in-patients beds at Malton Hospital would continue to be used as part of the integrated service offer.

Vicky Scarborough said that the beds provided much needed step-up-step-down bed capacity.

Borough Councillor Sue Tucker queried whether all staff in the local health and social care system had access to the full patient record. If so, then significant savings could be made in time and that there would be general improvements I efficiency and efficacy.

Vicky Scarborough said that, at present, it is only possible for all staff to see high level summaries. Access to a shared patient record was being worked on as part of the integration work.

Borough Councillor Sue Tucker asked whether people can still self-refer to the continence service.

Vicky Scarborough said that she would find out and get back to Daniel Harry.

Resolved -

1) Vicky Scarborough to come back to a future meeting of the committee to provide an update on the performance of community services. Daniel Harry to liaise and set a date.

125. Whitby Hospital

Considered -

A presentation by Vicky Scarborough, Deputy Director Business Development, Humber Teaching NHS Foundation Trust.

Vicky Scarborough introduced the presentation and said that the intention had been for Clive Brookes, deputy Chief Operating Officer at the Trust, to lead on the discussions but he had been unable to attend.

County Councillor John Ennis said that the committee had read the presentation, which had been circulated with the committee papers, and that they could go straight to questions.

County Councillor John Ennis asked how existing services at Whitby Hospital would be maintained during the refurbishment and building work.

Vicky Scarborough said that work was due to start on 23 March 20202 and that a decant plan was in operation, which saw services relocate from the rear of the building to the front and vice versa. This would then enable the bulk of existing services to continue to be delivered from the hospital.

County Councillor Heather Moorhouse asked how Whitby Hospital and the James Cook Hospital worked together.

Vicky Scarborough said that protocols were in place at the two hospitals regarding the management of patients and patient transfers. She said that Whitby Hospital was not used as an overflow for the James Cook.

Borough Councillor Sue Tucker said that local people in Whitby did not seem to understand what changes were being made to the hospital and when. She said that communication had been poor and that there were real concerns about disabled access to the new site.

Vicky Scarborough said that there had been a programme of engagement in place for a number of years. She said that a copy of the engagement plan would be forwarded to Daniel Harry to share with the committee.

Simon Cox said that there would be changes to some services at Whitby Hospital, one of which would be the phasing out of the minor injuries service. Instead, this would be provided by GP supported services in primary care. Simon Cox said that he would come back to a future meeting of the committee to update on this.

Daniel Harry said that the intention had always been to open up the use of the Whitby Hospital site to a broad range of agencies and organisations involved in health and social care provision locally.

Vicky Scarborough said that the intention was still to develop part of the site as a community hub.

Simon Cox said that further details of joint/integrated working at the site and could be brought back to a future meeting of the committee. Colleagues from the County Council and Borough Council could assist in this.

Resolved -

- 1) Vicky Scarborough to provide a copy of the public engagement plan for the refurbishment of Whitby Hospital
- Simon Cox to come to a future meeting of the Scarborough and Whitby Area Constituency Committee to outline the changes to services and facilities at Whitby Hospital

- 3) Simon Cox to come to a future meeting of the committee, possibly 11 September 2020, with an overview of what urgent care provision will be put in place in Whitby Hospital
- 4) Daniel Harry to speak with officers in the County Council to better understand what use is being made of the Whitby Hospital site by other agencies and organisations, as had been envisaged when the changes to the site were first being considered.

126. Work Programme

Considered -

Daniel Harry, Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager, North Yorkshire County Council, introduced this item and asked Members to review the work programme and make suggestions for areas of scrutiny for inclusion on the work programme.

Resolved -

- 1) That an additional meeting of the committee be held on 24 April 2020 to scrutinise the proposed changes to the Healthy Child Programme
- 2) An update be provided to the 19 June 2020 meeting of the committee by Amanda Bloor on the development of the Integrated Care Systems (ICS) that cover North Yorkshire and the planned move of the whole of North Yorkshire into the ICS for Humber Coast and Vale
- 3) TEWV to attend the 19 June 2020 meeting to give an overview of the outcome of the recent CQC inspection of their services and what action will be take in response to the 3 March 2020 report and overall 'Requires Improvement' rating.

127. Other Business which the Chairman agrees should be considered as a matter of urgency because of special circumstances

There were no items of other business.

128. Community pharmacies - changes to the repeat prescription ordering process

The report was taken as for information only and did not form part of the discussions at the committee. Any queries were to be directed to Daniel Harry.

The meeting concluded at 12:20pm

DH